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ABSTRACT

The thesis attempts to explain the emergence of main-
tained secondary education in Ealing by 1913 and to describe
the subsequent development of the maintained secondary schools
up to 1944, These developments are set within the context of
the community which formed the borough and of the county of
Middlesex. They are related to contemporary educational ideas
and practices. Contributory demographic, socilal and political
influences on the development of maintained secondary education
in Ealing are identified and an assessment of the roles of
influential personalities is undertaken. Some appraisal of
the success or otherwise of Middlesex and Ealing policy and
of the placé of this policy within the national framework is
offered. An effort has been made to portray adequately the
educational experiences of boys and girls at the Ealing County

Secondary Schools in the period 1913-1944.

The possibility of a thesis first arose with the acquis-
ition of notebooks and documents belonging to the late
Mr. E.P.H. Pugh. These were kindly lent by Mrs. Pugh. The
notebooks contain copies of documents relating to many aspects
of Ealing's history including some relevant to education. The
documents in the collection include some annual reports of the
Faling Educational Association and the Ealing Education Comnmit-
tee together with letters and papers concerned with discussions
prior to the implementation of theil944 Education Act in the
borough. "~ As such the collection has been a useful springboard
from which to launch a study of secondary education in Ealing

between 1902 and 1944.
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Other local primary sources consulted are to be found
in the Ealing Reference Library and the Greater London Records
Office and History Library. They include newspapers, the
minutes of various education, borough and county committees,
headteachers' reports, the repbrts of H.M. school inspectors
and the texts of various addresses and lectures given during
the period by the personalities involved. National primary
sources consulted are to be founrd in the Public Records Office.
Attempts were made to contact former pupils and teachers who
worked in the Ealing County Schools between 1913 and 1944.

Those who contributed are listed in the bibliography.
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CHAPTER I

THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL CONTEXT -
THE GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT 0OF EALING 1900-1945

On the 3rd June 1901 Ealing's Royal Charter of

Incorporation was signed by King Edward VII. A booklet
produced fifty years later in celebration of Ealing's
Silver Jubilee noted with some pride that this Royél
Charter was the first to be granted in the twentieth
century, the first to be granted to any district in
Middlesex and the first to be signed by Edward VII. The
Charter proclaimed that the King, acting on advice from
the Privy Council, 'hereby creates a municipal borough
by the name of the Borough of Ealing‘,l The Broadway,
which by 1901 had emerged as the commercial centre of
the community, lay just eight and a half miles west of

Westminster.

Proximity to London had been an influence on the
development of Ealing for the previous 400 years. In the
sixteenth century the open spaces in the area served as
market gardens and provided agricultural and dairy produce
for the capital. The eighteenth century brought an improve-
ment in highways dnd the village of EFaling became a staging
point for traffic between London and the west of England.
Stagecoaches and their passengers were tended and refreshed

at such inns as '"The Bell'! and 'The Featherst., The

1 M4.,C.T. 13:7:06 p.6.



improvements in communications continued into and through-
out the nineteenth century. The clean air of Ealing,
contrasting with the increasing grime of the capital,
attracted some of the wealthier residents of London who
moved into 1ts more hospitable environs. It was at this
time that Pitshanger Manor was built. The new middle-
classes too found the prospect of fresh air and green
fields attractive and after the opening of the District
Railway in 1838 began to construct their large detached
properties north of the centre of Ealing on Castlebar Hill
above the flood level of the River Brent. In a pamphlet
produced in Queen Victoria's Jubilee year of 1887 the
suburb of Ealing was described as 'one of the healthiest
places in the whole of England. This i1s due to the large

Co

open spaces and to the perfection of its system of drainag
It combines all the advantages of a town with the beauty
of the country',2 The accolade 'Queen of the Suburbs' was
first applied to Ealing and gained currency in this period.
The census returns for the nineteenth century demonstrate
the growth of the area and illustrate that this growth was

a reflection of the increase in the population of England

and Wales as a whole and of the increase in the population

of London. N

Ealing grew and a sense of community was engendered
and developed. This sense found expression in the assump-

tion of a measure of administrative responsibility and in

2 M.C.T. 31:12:21 p.11,




TABLE I

Pooulation Growth in Zaling 1801-1901

y Population of Population of Population of
ear Ealing Greater London |England and Wales
1801 5,035% 958,000 8,872,980
1851 9,828% 2,580,735 17,929,609
1901 33,031 6,581,402 32,527,843

* YOTE: These figures for the population of Faling
include 01d 3rentford.

The population figure for Faling in 1901
does not include 0ld Brentford.

SOURCE: For 1831 and 1851 : Emery p.l13.
For 1901 : Census 1921, '31, '51.

the responsible digcharze of relevant duties. In 1863 the
Baling Local Board was set up. After the enactment of the
Public Health Bill in 1875 the board had the power to make
bye-laws regulating the spaces around houses and the width
of streets. In 1888 county councils replaced the local
boards and in 1894 Ealing became an urban district of
Middlesex. It was one of several wiaich included Acton,
Hanwell, Southall/Norwocod and Greenford. There were det-
ached parts of Hanwell and Greenford at Twyford. The
delegation of administrative duties to localities in the
nineteenth century grew out of an increasing concern with
public health. any local areas accepted responsibility
with enthusiasm. Ealing was such an area. Sanitation was
improved and in 1883-/4 a new sewage farm constructed in the

north-west of the district at a cost of £10,000. It was so




efficient that Ealing appealed successfully against inclusion
in the Thames Valley scheme which was discussed in the 1870s.
Parks and libraries were provided, roads improved and the
problem of lighting tackled. Provision increased from one
lamp at Ealing Green in 1863 to 1,150 lamps in the urban

district by 1901.3

In the last decade of the nineteenth century Ealing
Urban District Council sought to widen their sphere of influ-
ence and gain a greater degree of autonomy. Some members of

the community came to believe that the size and nature of the

area justified the granting of a full Charter of Incorporation.

The subject of incorporation was first discussed in public in
November 1892 at a meeting in the 01d Lyric Hall, Ealing
Broadway. Mr. Tracy Hutchison and Colonel Prendergast Walsh
were particularly enthusiastic in their public support for
the acquisition of borough status. A second public meeting
was held in 1893 and presided over by Sir Edward Montague
Nelson, chairman of the local board. But the indifference

of the majority of the members of the board resulted in the
frustration of those who favoured incorporation. The cam-
paign for the Charter was renewed in 189,. The election of
the 12 members of the new Urban District Council had returned
11 who supported th% idea of incorporation. A petition,
slgned by two thousand residents, went to the Privy Council

but was rejected,4 A second petition presented in 1898 met

3 Jones V., to C.T. p.ll4.

4 Scouse p.l12.




with more success. By now the cause of incorporation had a
new, perhaps more powerful champion in the person of Lord
George Hamilton who had been Ealing's member of Parliament
since 1885. The necessary Charter was prepared and sent by

the Privy Council for signature in 1901. This was done des-
pite the opposition of the Middlesex County Council who were
fearful for the fragmentation of the county unit.5 However

the county council withdrew its opposition and the King signed
the Charter. The granting of Ealing's Charter of Incorporation
signified a recognition of the increasingly energetic community
life of the old urban district and registered a vote of con-

fidence in the potential civiec 1life of the new borough.

There were to be 18 councillors representing six electoral
wards. The new borough of Ealing comprised an area of 2,947
acres and the population measured by the 1901 census at 33,031

was distributed by electoral ward thus:

TABLE IT

Distribution of Population by Electoral Ward
in_Ealing 1901

Drayton Ward 5,839
Castlebar Ward 6,078
Mount Park Ward 5,138
Grange Ward 3,779
Manor Ward 7,037
Lammas Ward 5,165

SOURCE: Census 1901,

5 Scouse p.13,
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Illustration II

Map showing Distribution of population

by Electoral Ward in London Borough of Ealing 1901
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Manor Ward with the highest population is significantly the
ward which was served by South Ealing railway station on the
Metropolitan and District Railway line. There was an un-
broken half-hourly service with two additional trains each
morning and evening,6 Lammas Ward was served by Northfield
Halt on the same line. The Halt was later to become Little
Faling Station. Residents of Grange Ward and Manor Ward
could most conveniently use the Zaling stations on the Great
Western line and on the Metropolitan and District line as
could people from Castlebar and Mount Park. From Drayton a
walk to West Ealing station was easiest although the service
here was less frequent than on the Metropolitan and District
line, PFew trains on the Great Western Railway actually
terminated or began thelir journeys at Ealing but many expresses

stopped when passing through. The Middlesex County Times of

Saturday 7th December 1901 explained that Ealing had 24 more
trains availilable for London traffic than Southall next along
the line out of the capital. Intervals between trains were
irregular but the importance of the railways in the growth
of Ealing was already acknowledged by the new borough's own
residents. The same edition of the newspaper made reference
to an article in Rallway magazine which wrote of the presence

of a 'rail-faring class in Ealing'o7

At the time of incorporation there were 5,991 houses

inhabited in Ealing and a further 445 classified in the 1901

5 4.C,T. 7:12:01 pD.2,

7 M.C.T, 7:12:01 p.2.



census as uninhabited. There were 33% miles of road repar-
able by the town council,8 The new borough possessed the
Common, Haven Green, Ealing Green, Drayton Green and Lammas
Park and was already proud of its open spaces. The first
borough engineer, Charles Jones, writing in 1911 recalled
that in 1901 'the residents of Ealing, individually and
collectively are proud of the title "Queen of the Suburbs"'.9
On the 1lst May 1901 Walpole Park was opened to the public by
Lord George Hamilton and Hanger Hill Golf Club by Sir Edward
Montague Nelson. At the same time however Ealing could pro-
vide only ten beds in the Hospital for Infectious Diseases,

one part-time Medical Officer of Health, Dr. C.A. Patten,

and one sanitary inspector.

The Royal Charter of Incorporation was publicly received
in Ealing on the 10th July 1901. The day was one of double
celebration as simultaneocusly a procession of tramcars marked
the opening of the London United Tramways extension from
Shepherds Bush to Southall through Ealing. The 'double
event' was commemorated by Councillor W.H.C. Groombe R.B.A.

whose cartoon appeared in the Ealing'Gazette and subsequently

in the Jubilee booklet. Mr. W. Ruston, Town Clerk, read the
Charter aloud on Ealing Common. Earlier, councillors and
representatives of "various public bodies, including the
Paling Cycling Club and Society of Plasterers, had arrived

at the municipal buildings 'in a continual stream with a

8 Jones D. of P. pp.20-22,
9 Jones D. of P. p.22.

10 Jones D. of P. p.53,



Illustration III

Faling's Double Event

Source: Scouse
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sprinkling of the fair sex'. From there they had walked t

0]

the Common in a procession of 'dignity and simplicity'. 1In

his speech as Charter Mayor, Sir Edward Montague Nelson re

minded the people of Ealing that 'the advantages to be gained

from Incorporation rest entirely with yourselves'cll The

festivities to mark the reception of the Charter included
garden party for ladies and children in Walpole Park, a
children's fete in Lammas.Park and a banquet given by Sir
Edward Montague Nelson in Victoria Hall. The Middlesex

County Times of Saturday 13th July 1901, while expressing

some reservations as to the preparedness and organisation
the celebrations and noting concern as to the uncertainty

adequate funds, was adamant that a good time was had by al

Lord Rothschild declared the tramways extension open.
The first trams appeared ocutside the Town Hall just as the
councillors, other public representatives and their ladies

gathered on the steps in readiness for their procession %o

of

of

lﬂ

the Common to hear the reading of the Charter. For a moment

the two events merged into one scene of celebration. A rep-

orter of the Middlesex County Times described what happene

'e.. the next mild form of excitement was the

arrival of the first electric car en route for
Southall, followed by several others all beaut-
ifully decorated with garlands of roses. As
the car passed respectful greetings were ex-
changed between those on the steps of the
Municipal Buildings and those riding on the

top of the cars, there being a general raising
of hats,'12

d:

11 M4.C.T. 13:7:01 p.6.

12 M.C.T. 13:7:01 p.1.
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Both the granting of the Charter and the opening of the
tramway were to be of enormous importance in the develop-
ment of Baling in the first half of the twentieth century.
The tramway was largely instrumental in prompting and
facilitating the rapid increase in population which was so
particularly evident in the first ten years after incorp-
oration. The timing of its construction was so important.
Nationally the population was growing and a comparison of
the census figures in Table III for the first half of the
twentieth century for London reveals an interesting and
significant trend. There was a marked decrease in the
number of people living in the Administrative County of
London and a corresponding increase in the number living

in Greater London. There was a drift of people to the
suburbs. This trend was able to occur because of the
improved lines of communication into, out of and around the
capital. The tramways were the first major improvement in
transport in and around London in the twentieth century.

It became possible for some of London's working population
to live at increasing distances from their place of Qork°
The trams on the extended line from Acton to Southall which
passed through Ealing along the Uxbridge Road ran much more
frequently than the trains and were cheaper. Trams in both
directions ran every three minutes compared with the half-
hourly train service. The tramway company managers claimed
that their service was three times as fast as that provided
by the railway. The maximum fare on the tramway was three-

pence and special workmen's cars in the morning and evening
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nad a maximum fare of one penny.13 Significant numbers of
London's workers came to live in Ealing as a result of the
convenience afforded them by the tramway. The borough grew
and its social base became broader. The possible effects
of this cheap and regular transport on the social class of
the borough did not escape many of the 1onger standing
residents who were eager to see Faling continue to live up
to its image as 'Queen of the Suburbs'. Also the trams were
noisy, were in their prescribed route a possible threat to
tradesmen who might now find their tasks of loading and un-
loading made more difficult. !r. Henry Douglass of The
Vicarage, Faling Common, described the problem picturesquely.
The trams, he complained, were 'a grievéus nuisance'., He
disliked the fear-splitting thunder and nerve-scraping reso-
nance'! of the 'gaudy tumbrils'. 'Each car is rapidly evolving
a special sonorousness of its own. There are some now that
emit a giant sigh and a monster pant and even whistle and
scream in addition to the general rumble, rattle and grind',IA
But the columns of the local newspaper are also evidence of
the support which existed for the tramways. Mr., H. Morgan-
Browne speaking for the National Liberal Club insisted that
the trams were 'in the interests of the great majority of

the inhabitants of Ealing'o15

e

The granting of the Charter ensured that during this

time of rapid growth and development the efficient organis-

bl
o
W

13 M.C.T. 20:7:01
14 M.C.T. 17:8:01 p.5.

15 4.C.T. 10:8:01 p.6.
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ation of local affairs, the welfare of the residents and the
adequate satisfaction of their requirements would be the con-
cern to a large extent of people within the community. It
established in Ealing the principal of local responsibility
for the affairs of the community. Anticipating the enthus-
iastic public reception of the Charter the editor of the

Middlesex Countv Times of Saturday 8th June 1901 concluded

that 'it has been universally recognised that local govern-
ment can be more effectively carried on under the powers
ecreated by the Municipal Corporation Act of 1882 than under
the District Councils Act of 1894'., In the next half century
Ealing was to tackle its problems and applaud its own achieve-

ments with no mean measure of civic pride.

The census returns show continual growth in the population
of Zaling throughout the whole of the first half of the twen-
tieth century. (See Table III). Two periods of particularly
rapid growth are apparent; between 1901 and 1911 and between
1921 and 1951. In the period from 1901 to 1911 of the City
of London and 28 metropolitan boroughs, 20 decreased in popu-
lation while all but one of 33 urban districts increased in
population. Only two 1lncreased in excess of Ealing. They
were Tottenham and Willesdeno16 The growth and development
of Ealing between <1902 and 1944 is most clearly described if
the period is divided into two, the year 1926 marking the
division.

The southern part of Ealing developed first in the
twentieth century with the largest population increases

occurring in Lammas, Manor and Grange Wards. Maps of the

15 Census 1921, '31, ‘51,




Population Growth_ in

TABLE III

Ealing in relation to Population of

i) England _and Wales

and Distribution of Population in Ealing by Electoral Ward 1901-51

Population of 1901 1911 1921 1931 1951
A. England & Wales 32,527,843 36,070,492 37,886,699 39,952,377 43,757,838
B. Administrative , ' ;
County of London 4,536,267 4,521,685 | 4,484,523 4,397,033 3,347,932
C. Greater London 6,581,402 7,251,358 7,480;201 8,110,856 8,348,023
b. Q;SZB;§HSOFOUgh 2947 acres 29,7 acres 2947 acres 9133 acres 8781 acres
E. Total Population p
of Bor. of Ealing 33,031 61,222 67,755 117,688 187,323
Digtributed thus:
Drayton Ward 5,834 7,621 7,535 10,318 11,964%
Castlebar Ward 6.078 9,516 10,905 10,106 11,393
Mount Park Ward 5,138 7,713 7,992 9,053 10,369
Lammas Ward - 5,165 1,628 15,895 13,278 10,37,
Manor Yard 7,037 2,440 15,052 11,007 9,91.
Grange Ward 3,779 9,304 10,376 15,034 11,163
Grosvenor VWard 3 11,452 10,225
Hanwell 8. Ward 8,878 13,535
Hanwell N, VWard WARDS CREATED IN 1926-8 10,270 15,089
Greenford Ward 15,244 Wards crzated
Northolt Ward ) 3,048 ,after 19435 -
13,573 |Greenford Central
13,893 [Greenford lorth
16,353 |(Gresnford South
SOURCES : 1) Census 1921, °31, °S1 9,049 Jdortholt North
ii) Prelim. Rep. 1971 10,152 [|ilortholt South
iii) Census Middx. 1961 10,745 |Hanger Hill

9,979

Perivale

€T
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borough dated 1905 and 1910 and available in the reference
library until a recent fire reinforce this picture of events,
There was a concentration of housing to the north and south
of Uxbridge Road with a greater density immediately to the
south of that section of Uxbridge Road called The Broadway.
The housing constructed then has been described as 'typical
Edwardian style terraced housing ... compact and monotonous
estates fronting straight forty foot roads'.,17 The higher
class of detached housing on Castlebar Hill is discernible.
The perivhery of the borough in the north, lying to the

south of Perivale and the Great Western Railway London to
Birminghamn bra§ch,'which had been opened in 1904, was still
rural and remained so until the late 1920s. In the first

ten years of incorporation 6,784 new houses were built, the
majority being constructed by firms for owner-occupation or
private tenancy,18 Brentham Garden Suburb in the north-east
of Ealing represented an early experiment in co-ownership
housingf Formed in 1901 by six workers in the building trade
who joined forces to purchase plots for nine houses in
Woodfield Road at a cost of £400, Ealing Tenants Limited saw
their membership rise from 59 to 353 between 1903 and 1910,
In 1907 they erected 108 houses and by 1910 nearly 200 houses
'mainly of cottage: type'! covered a total area of 60% acres,19
House bullding slowed down after 1911. Between 1916 and 1920
30 houses were built by private enterprise and 65 by the Town

Council, the first council estate.being the Village Park and

17 Emery p.ll.
18 Scouse p.31,

19 L.H., 1954 part II pp.39-43,
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2
Popes Lane estate which was commenced in 1918.”0 Between

1921 and 1925 792 houses were built by private firms and

1

208 by the Town Council,2 but by 1926 there was apparently

a housing shortage for the Middlesex County Times of 3rd

July 1926 asserted that in Ealing the situation regarding

housing 'is as acute as in most towns'.

Who were the new residents in the borough and to what
extent did they broaden the social basis of the community?
There had been a working class presence in Faling certainly
since the last decade of the nineteenth century. In accord-
ance with the Housing of the Working Classes Act 1890,
workmen's dwellings had been built in North Road and South
Road in South Ealing on a six and a half acre site. Their
existence 1s alluded to in Mr.Groombe's cartoon. 131 cot-
tages and flats were congiructed and Charles Jones, Borough
Surveyor, estimated the number of tenants in 1911 to be

22

400 Unemployed relief had been undertaken in Faling

3 The

since 1904-5 when 413 people registered for relief.,2
unemployed in fact did much useful work including the crea-
tion of the lake in Walpole Park, widening the road across
the Common and various improvements to the bacteria beds in
the sewage farm. The number of people defined as out of
work by the 1921 éensus was 100, comprising 77 men and 23
women. Assuming full tenancy of the workmen's dwellings

the number of labouring class persons in Ealing in 1921

would have been approximately 500. This represented a small

20 H.C.T. 3:7:26 p.12,
21 M.C.T. 3:7:26 p.l12.

22 Jones

]

|

. 0f P. pp.56-67.
P,

23 Jones

o
Q
hﬁ

p.74.
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proportion of the total population of the borough which

in 1921 was just less than 68,000,

The majority of Ealing's population in 1921 and the
majority of the new residents were families whose bread-
winners were either people working in the professions, in
public administration or a commercial occupation and who
can best be termed middle class, or skilled artisans and
some skilled working class. Table IV, representative of
the 1921 census, illustrates the point. On balance, then,
Ealing's population at this time was middle-class. This
is further suggested by the fact that the birth rate in
Ealing in 1925 was measured at 14 per 1,000 comparing with
18.3 per 1,000 for England and Wales and 18 per 1,000 for

R4

London. The Middlesex County Times claimed that this was

proof that 'Ealing is a middle-class suburb' in that people,
the paper suggested, already had families when they were
25

promoted to London and before they came to live in Ealing.

That many of the new residents had the jobs they did
is not surprising given the changes which were occurring in
English society in the first quarter of the twentieth cen-
tury. All these areas of increased employment were growth
areas within the economy. Roads, railways and tramways
expanded, new branches of insurance were developed to satisfy
more varied requirements, commerce as an activity was in the

ascendancy, the large chain stores made their appearance in

English towns and the growing system of public administration

24 HM,C.T, 3:7:26 p.12.

25 M,C.T. 3:7:26 p.l12.



TABLE TV

Sample_of Occupations of Ealing Residents 1921

, No, of | Yo. of . . :
Occupation dales | Females Included in Job Description
Professional Occupation 1,355 1,086
Public Administration 1,270 492
Commercial, Financial, 3,300 1.089
Insurance
Transport and Communic- 2,000 161 108 porters and lampmen, 255 bus and lorry drivers.
ations ‘1 Many railway officials.
.Builders, Bricklayers 694 5 118 employers and managers. 119 skilled bricklayers.
atc. 19 bricklayer labs. 68 plasterers.
Workers in Wood and 889 31 41 managers and employers. 66 cabinet makers. 410
Furniture carpenters. 304 upholsterers.
Yakers of Textlile Goods 402 788 11, managers and employers, 110 tailors and tailors'
pressers etc.
Food and Drinks Makers 45 54 260 employers and managers. 110 bakers.
Electrical Apparatus 488 39 117 electrical engineers. 62 workers with no spec-
ific description.
! Watches and Clocks 119 5
Metal Workers 1,607 56 185 employers, managers or foremen. Skilled workers,

mechanics, gas fitters, finishers.

Source:

Census of England and Yales, County of Middlesex, 1921 (H.M.S.0. 1923),

Table 16

"Occupations by Sex of Persons Azed 12 Years and Over!'.

LT
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required large numbers of new clerical officers. The 1621
census shows that more people who lived in Faling were
employed outside the borough than within it. 156,589 Ealing
residents travelled to jobs outside the area, 11,479 of them
to the City of London and 4,194 to places elsewhere in Middle-
sex. 11,317 residents worked within the borough boundaries
although there were an additional 4,414 people working in
Ealing but enumerated elsewhere,26 There was in fact little
significant industrial development in Ealing during the first
25 years of the twentieth century. The Purex Lead Company
had been attracted by the northern branch of the Great West-
ern Railway. The building was used as a munitions factory

in the First World War and in 1919 became the site of the
Rockware Glass Company. In contrast to Ealing, there was
large scale industrial developmeniti to the west along the
Great Western Railway in Southall and to the east in Acton
where the Acton Park and Acton Vale industrial estates were
constructed close to the railway between 1900 and 1908. For
the first gquarter of this century Ealing remained a growing

residential borough.

Its growth presented the civic authorities with formid-
able challenges. On the assumption of borough status in
1901, Sir Edward Montague Nelson, Mayor, had reminded the
people and their elected representatives that 'the advantages
to be gained from Incorporation rest entirely with your-

selves'o27 Some review of the activities of the Town Council

26 Census, County of Middx, 1921. Workplaces.

27 H.C.

!

o 13:7:01 p.6,
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in the period 1901-1926 may help to gauge the enthusiasm

with which the community approached these challenges.

Between 1901 and 1911 there was a 30% increase in
road mileage within the borough. The mileage of public
roads reparable by the council increased from 337 miles to
52+ miles almost 4% miles of which was tar-macadam. The
increase was due mainly to works of intercommunication such
as the construction of a 620 feet long road, 40 feet in
width between Leighton Road and Mayfield Avenue in West
Ealing. There was a similar development between Bradley
Gardéns and Denbigh Road. Many roads, including Ealing
Road, were widened and drainage, lighting and paving were
provided for the first time. Little Ealing Lane was widen-
ed to 50 feet, Popes Lane to 40 feet and various sections
of Gunnesbury Lane, Hanger Lane and Windmill Lane were
broadened. These 1mprovements were paid for mainly by the
council although sometimes, as in the case of Queens Gardens,
and Mount Pleasant Road, they were due to the initiative of
private owners. Two new bridges were built. Drayton Green
bridge over the Great Western Railway was opened on the 14th
August 1907, the construction costs being shared between
Middlesex County Council, Hanwell Urban District Council
and the Ealing Town Council. Perivale bridge was built to
replace the old bridge and in this case the cost was shared
by the borough, Middlesex County.Council and Greenford Urban
District Council°28 The streetlighting within the borough

and the supply of electricity to homes improved considerably.

28 Jones D, of P. pp.22-35,
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The number of streetlamps increased from 1,084 in 1901 to

29

1,818 in 1911 and the number of domestic consumers of

electricity increased from 731 in 1901 to 4,564 in 19ll°30
The total acreage of open spaces within the borough was 158
acres in 1911. Dean Gardens, Pitshanger Park and Hanger Hill
Park had been the council's major acquisitions as Ealing
strove to preserve the quality of its environment in the face
of encroaching residential development. Many Ealing residents
undoubtedly remained proud of their borough and regarded
Raling as something of a pacesetter of national importance.
Charles Jones represented the views of many councillors and
burgesses when he wrote in 1911 that the work accomplished
within Zaling in the previous ten years was 'unequalled in

any district, corporate or otherwise, in the whole of Eng-

land'. 7t

Of particular concern to the Town Council was the health
of the residents. Drainage and sewage disposal were accorded
priority and it was Mr. Jones' contention that 'in matters
affecting the treatment of sewage and sewage disposal Ealing

32

was ploneer in the South of England'’. Indeed the sewage
disposal works in South Ealing were visited by admiring

delegations from places as far away as Japan. In 1903 the
council successfuliy appnlied to the Local Government Board

for a loan of £2,000 to pay for the construction of nine

ladies' and twelve gentlemen's slipper baths in Williams Road.

29 Jones D. of P. .40,
30 Jones D. of P. pp.74-75,

31 Jones D. of P, p.382.

32 Jones D. of P. pp.44-45,



In 1904 the Central Baths were altered and enlarged to
provide ten for the gentlemen and nine for the ladies angd,
as a precursor of modern times, a solarium electric light
was provided. In 1911 a new swimming bath exclusively for
the use of elementary school children was being constructed
at the rear of numbér two Woodland Place and in Longfield
Avenue. One first class swimming bath measuring 90 feet by
30 feet, one third class swimming bath measuring 75 feet by
30 feet, one ladies bath 60 feet by 24 feet, one elementary
school bath 65 feet by 27 feet 6 inches and 46 new slipper

33

baths were also under construction at this time.

At a2 time of growing national interest in the health
of the individual and of particular concern with the well-
being of infants and pregnant women, the Town Council
afforded significant priority to the extension of the bor-
ough's medical service. Between 1901 and 1926 two new
hospitals were constructed and opened. The King Edward
Memorial Hospital opened with forty beds in September 1911
and the South Ealing Maternity Hospital began to take in
patients in 1921. Both became objects of civic pride. In
1907 the medical inspection of school children was begun
and co-ordination between the school medical service and
the child welfare services soon followed. Ealing's first
health visitor was appecinted in 1911 and the development of
the borough's health servicss continued throughout World
War One wih Dr. Thomas Orr replacing Dr. C.A. Patten as

Medical Officer of Health in 1915. In 1916 two infant

33 Jones D, of P. pp.57-59,
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welfare sessions a week were held in the town hall and the
council engaged a private midwife to treat up to ten cases

a year. A part-time obstetrical consultant was appointed
and twice monthly ante-natal sessions began in 1917. In
1918 the first Maternity and Child Welfare Centre with a
School Clinic opened at 13 Mattock Lane., A part-time Med-
ical Officer was appnointed for maternity and child welfare,
home helps were to be provided where necessary and dental
treatment for expectant and nursing mothers was undertaken
at the council's expense. In 1920, the year before the
opening of the maternity hospital, a Committee for Maternity
and Child Welfare was formed and in 1925 a scheme for ortho-

34

paedic treatment of school children was inaugurated.

Such improvements had been achieved by a town council

which was essentially conservative in character and Con

ser-
vative in polities. Before 1926 there had been only one
Labour member of the council, Mr. A.H. Chilton, first
elected to represent Lammas Ward in 1917. Hde was a man who
enjoyed immense respect within the community but even he
was unable to secure any tenure on the council in this

period.

The improvements in health services for the community
and the other civic achlevements up to 1925 formed the
vanguard of Ealing's arguments in favour‘of the extension
of the borough boundaries in 1926 and 1928. The second

period of rapid population growth had two causes. The first

was the enlargement of the borough in itself. The second

34 Scouse pp.73-77.
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was the influx of people which resulted from the industrial
development which took place within the extended borough and

from new advances in communications with the capital.

The Town Council had been encouraged in their design to
extend the borough boundaries by the report of the Royal
Commission on Greater London Government 'which advocated the

35

union of small local government areas'. They were eager
to secure enlargement because 'practically the whole area of
the borough was covered with buildings and there was no

36

margin for development'. Middlesex County Council did not
oppose amalgamation in 1926 as they had incorporation in 1901.
There had, throughout the country, been an increasing concern
with town planning which had produced the Housing, Town Plan-
ning Act in 1919, the Housing Act of 1923 and the Town and
Country Planning Act of 1925, Middlesex were keen to see
responsibility for the town planning of the district in and
around Ealing in the care of one authority. Amalgamation

was achieved with Hanwell and Greenford in 1926 after a canm-
paign by Ealing Town Council lasting two and a half years.
Hanwell welcomed the new arrangements but Greenford went

into the borough reluctantly. Northolt was included within
the boundaries in 1928 and was eager to benefit from Ealing's
25 years of experience in the administration of a large

community.

The period 1926 to 1944 brought considerable changes,

not only in the size and population of the borough, but also

35 M.C.T, 16:1:26 p.8.

35 M.C.T. 16:1:26 p.8.
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in its character. The controlling factors of development
remained the same as they had been before 1926; the prox-
imity to London, trends in the economy of the country and
moere particularly of the capital and advances and new dep-
artures in transport and communications. The residential
areas of the old borough continued to grow between the

wars as the population figures for Grange Ward presented

in Table III show. In Grange Ward there was a rise in
population of just less than 5,000 people between 1921 and
1931. But the most obvious feature of Ealing's development
in the period between amalgamation in 1926 and 1944 is the
industrialisation and urbanisation of the newly acquired
north. Western Avenue had been constructed as far as
Greenford by 1926 and during the early 1930s was continued
through Greenford to Northolt. The railways and tramways
had brought the initial developments in the late nineteenth
and early twentieth centuries; motorised road transport
encouraged the transformation of the late 1920s and the
1930s. Greenford Road had been constructed in 1924 prov-
iding a link between Uxbridge Road and Western Avenue in
the west of Zaling and by 1933 the North Circular Road
formed a junction with Hanger Lane in the north east corner

37

just inside the bbrough boundaries. Writing in the
Jubilee publication of 1951 J. Lawson Petingale described
how at this time factories, shops and schools 'spread like
a tide over the cornfields and pésture land; aged trees

38

from old orchards came in front gardens'.

37 Emery p.l12.

38 Scouse pp.22-23,
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The attraction of Greenford and Perivale as a location
for light industry had been realised before the construction
of Western Avenue as the appearance of the Rockware Glass
Company signifies. In 1921 J. Lyons and Company opened a
factory at 0ldfield Lane dealing in tea, coffee, chocolate,
cocoa and sweets and was soon joined by the British Bath
Company, built 'to meet intense German competition' in Long

39

Drive, by the Glaxo Laboratories opened in 1935 and by the
Central Ordnance Depot which provided a considerable number
of jobs in the 1930s. There is no doubt that Western Avenue
was the reason for the siting of large scale industrial
concerns in Perivale in the late 1920s and the 1930s. In
1929 A. Sanderson and Sons, wallpaper manufacturers, opened

a factory on a 52 acre site at the foot of Horsenden Hill,
The Hoover Company built a factory on an eight acre site

just off Western Avenue and today this is a listed building.
Both the Hoover and Sanderson sites included extensive sports
and recreational facilities; The area behind the Hoover
factory in Wandsworth Road developed into an industrial est-
ate half a mile square in area containing such factories as
the Philco Radio Company, Peerless Built-in Furniture Company
and manufacturers of oil lamps and heaters. The completion
of the North Circular Road brought, in the late 1930s, sim-
ilar development in the north east and Hanger Hill ssctions
of the borough. Four large factories are particularly worthy
of note:s Arrow Electric, Wolf and‘Company, the Kiwi Boot

Polish Company and Virol Foods Limited,AO Ealing was thrust

39 Scouse p.99.

40 Scouse pp.97-103,
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into the national and international consciousness with the

opening in 1931 of the Ealing Film Studios.

The residential.development which accompanied the ind-
ustrial growth was likewise most marked in the newly acquired
areas although the population of the area of the old borough
also increased as the drift frpm London to the suburbs cont-
inued. In 1931 the population of this old area was approx-
imately 80,000, a sizeable increase on the population of
just less than 68,000 for 1921. Some anomalies require
explanation., Manor Ward showed a decrease in population.
This was due to the transfer of an area south of Bramley
Road and Airedale Road to Lammas Ward. ©Even so, the popu-
lation of Lammas Ward decreased by 2,617 persons in the same
period due to the creation of the new Grosvenor Ward to which
Lammas surrendered the area north of Salisbury Road. Gros-
venor Ward also included new residential areas north of
Haslemere Avenue and west of Midhurst Road. 1In assessing
the population of the old borough area this new ward must be
taken into account as its western perimeter ran less than a
quarter of a mile to the west of the old borough boundary.
Grange Ward increased in population between 1921 and 1931,
most of the newcomers being housed in the development in the
south of the wardqaround Village Park and Popes Lane. The
1951 census returns show only a small increase in the numbers
resident in Drayton, Castlebar and Mount Park wards and
decreases in population 1n Lammaé, Manor, Grange and Grosvenor
wards. It seems likely therefore that the population of the

area of Ealing which had comprised the old borough as it had
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been before 1926 remained fairly stable between 1931 and
1945 and may even nave begun to decrease. In 1931 the
population of this area was 80,428 and in 1951 it totalled

74,990, %%

In Hanwell the population actually fell by a
little over 1,000 people from 20,481 in 1921 to 19,148 in
1931, this after a rise of just under 9,000 in the first
decade of the twentieth century to a total of 19,129 in
1911.42 The 1930s brought the construction of a London

County Council housing estate in Hanwell.

In the north of the borough population growth and
housing development were spectacular. The population of
Greenford measured by the respective censuses rose from
1,461 in 1921 to 15,244 in 1931. There are, of course, no
official figures for 1941 but by 1951 there were three
electoral wards in Greenford and their combined populaticn
was 43,834 suggesting a continued substantial growth in
Greenford in the 1930s and 1940s. A similar growth is ind-
icated for Northolt in this period where the population
increased from 3,048 persons at the time of the 1931 census
to 19,201 in the two Hortholt electoral wards in 1951. By
1937 there was a.large new residential development in North-
olt to the east and to the west of Church Road, north of
Western Avenue and’ south of the Great Western Railway London-
Birmingham branch. In Greenford the area between Perivale
Park and Ravenor Park, to the east and west of Greenford Road

and north and south of Ruislip Road became another residential

41 Census 1921, "31, '51.

42 Census 1901, Census 1911 and Census 1921, ‘31,

——-—c——.’ e
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area. MNew properties were also built to the west along
Mansell Road towards Allenby Road and Greenford town and
shopping centre grew up along Ruislip Road. Similar housing
development occurred in the extrsme north of the borough at
Greenford Green to the north and south of Whitton Avenue
encompassing Lyons Sports ground and Horsenden Hill where

g.43

a shopping parade also develope Perivale became envel-
oped by houses. The old village centre was sandwiched
between the already developed Castlebar and Drayton areas to
the south and the new houses which had been built to the
north between Western Avenue and the Great Western Railway
near to Perivale station. There was further development
behind Wamdsworth Road north of the railway and to the south
bt

east of Horsenden Hill. The population growth of Perivale

was such that by 1951 1t was created another electoral ward,

45

there being 9,974 persons resident there.

The spread of residential development away from Uxbridge
Road indicated a lessening dependency on the tramway although
that major thoroughfare of Ealing became crowded with omni-
buses to such an extent that in 1926 the Ministry of Transport
issued an order restricting the number of buses on the road,46
The improvements in bus services undoubtedly enhanced the

attraction of Greenford and the Middlesex County Times is

full of evidence of pirate bus services providing cheap and

frequent connections between Ealing and the capital and link-

43 B.S. Maps. 1927, 1937.
44 B.,S. Maps. 1927, 1937.

45 Census 1921, '31, '51.

46 M.C.T. 56:3:26 p.4,
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ing different parts of the borough. In the north the
residents were well served by rail through the stations at
Park Royal, Twyford Abbey and Northolt Park on the District
Railway. Alperton, Sudbury Town and Sudbury Hdill, although
just outside the borough boundaries, were within easy reach
of the Perivale and Greenford Green areas. The motorcar
was beginning to emerge as an invortant means of transport.
From as early as the late 1920s agents who advertised prop-
erty for sale or rent regarded the provision of a 'splendid
garage'! as attractive a selling voint as proximity to the

railway stations.

What effect then did this growth and development have
on the social composition of Taling and on the character
and political nature of the borough? Baling could no longer,
as it could prior to 1926. be adequately described as a res-
idential suburb. There was significant industrial development
but the borough was also residential. With regard to the
social class of the new residents in the north of Ealing, a

study of the advertisement pages of the Middlesex County Times

in the period of expansion 1s instructive. Two advertisements
for houses taken from the same edition of the newspaper on the
2nd June 1928 are representative. They are typical of the
types of-property that were being built in the new develop-
nmen